
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT


FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
:

v.



:

EDWARD FORCHION


:

PATRICK L. DUFF


GOVERNMENT’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANTS’

            
MOTION TO DISMISS
I.  THE FACTS

On September 28, 2004, hearings were scheduled before this Court on violation notices issued on

December 20, 2003 and March 20 and April 17, 2004 to the above defendants in connection with their actions in smoking marijuana in Independence National Historical Park.  The defendants, representing themselves, submitted to the Court and the government a pleading denominated “Motion: To Dismiss ‘Affirmative Defense’ of Religious Freedom (42 U.S.C. §2004bb(a)).”  The Court directed the government to submit a written response to this pleading.  Before addressing the legal argument raised by the defendants, the government will review the facts of the offenses.

On December 20, 2003, defendant Forchion was issued Violation No. P028826 and defendant Duff was issued Violation No. P257101, both for possession of a controlled substance within a national park in violation of 36 C.F.R. §2.35(b)(2).  On that date, Duff and Forchion were part of a group of individuals protesting near the Liberty Bell Pavilion.  Defendants appear to believe that marijuana should be legalized and that the federal narcotics laws are racist.  Duff spoke for a period of time using a bullhorn, making statements to the effect that the so-called “war on drugs” was a war on black people, that white judges were locking up black people, and that it was ridiculous that it was legal to drink alcohol and smoke cigarettes, but illegal to smoke marijuana.

Forchion then began speaking, asking for a moment of silence for the 700,000 people arrested every year apparently for marijuana-related crimes.  He further stated that it did not matter what religion an individual belonged to, that the use of marijuana in a religious ceremony was absolutely legal according to the Religious Freedom Restoration Act, and that there was no reason that the Park Police should arrest anyone during the course of a religious ceremony.  Duff then lit a marijuana cigarette and he and Forchion took turns smoking it.  Both were then issued the citations.

Forchion and Duff engaged in a similar protest on March 20, 2004 and both were issued violation notices for possession of a controlled substance within a national park (Violation No. P257995 to Forchion and No. P257040 to Duff).  In addition, Forchion was issued Violation No. P257996 for interfering with agency functions, 36 C.F.R. § 2.32(a)(1), because Forchion destroyed the marijuana cigarette he had been observed smoking with Duff by placing it in his mouth and swallowing it, despite repeated orders by Ranger Tony Salvemini to surrender the marijuana.

Finally, on April 17, 2004, a group of approximately twenty individuals including Forchion and Duff engaged in a third protest.  Forchion was again observed smoking marijuana and was issued Violation No. P257037.  As the ranger who had observed Forchion smoking approached him, a second ranger observed Forchion walk away and attempt to hide the marijuana cigarette.  This second ranger then observed Forchion throw the marijuana cigarette to the ground and Duff attempted to step on it.  Duff was issued Violation No. P256628 for interfering with agency functions.  In addition, Forchion was issued Violation No. P257038 for disorderly conduct in violation of 36 C.F.R. § 2.34(a)(2) because Forchion was observed to shout to the crowd of protestors, stop vehicle traffic on Chestnut Street, interrupt visitors to Independence Hall, and generally create a public disturbance. 

II.  THE LAW

          At a hearing on September 28, 2004, the defendants invoked the protections of the Religious Freedom Restoration Act (“RFRA”), 42 U.S.C. § 2000bb-1, claiming to be Rastafarians who were using marijuana in a religious ceremony.  They further claim that the Ninth Circuit in Guam v. Guerrero, 290 F.3d 1210 (9th Cir. 2002) held that “the RFRA forbids prosecuting Rastafarians for using marijuana within the federal realm, such as a United States territory or a national park.”  Br. at 3.  Defendants misapprehend the law.

Under limited circumstances, the RFRA creates an affirmative defense in a criminal prosecution.
  To state a prima facie free exercise claim, a defendant must establish, by a preponderance of the evidence, three threshold requirements:  “The governmental action must (1) substantially burden, (2) a religious belief rather than a philosophy or way of life, (3) which belief is sincerely held by the defendant.”  United States v. Meyers, 95 F.3d 1475, 1482 (10th Cir. 1996)(citations omitted).  Only if the defendant establishes these threshold requirements does the burden shift to the government to demonstrate that the challenged regulation furthers a compelling state interest in the least restrictive manner.  Id. 
A substantial burden “is one that forces adherents of a religion to refrain from religiously motivated conduct, inhibits, or constrains conduct or expression that manifests a central tenet of a person’s religious beliefs, or compels conduct or expression that is contrary to those beliefs.”  Mack v. O’Leary, 80 F.3d 1175, 1179 (7th Cir. 1996).

Assuming that the defendants are Rastafarians and that the practice of their religion involves the use of marijuana, defendants cannot establish that the governmental action of prosecuting them for possession of a controlled substance in a national park substantially burdens their exercise of their religion because no authority suggests that Rastafarianism would require smoking marijuana in a national park.  On the three occasions when the defendants were issued violation notices, they were not engaged in conduct which involved the private practice of their religion.  Rather, they were publicly protesting the federal narcotics laws on federal property.  

The cases cited by the defendants in their effort to avail themselves of the protections of the RFRA are not to the contrary.  In United States v. Bauer, 84 F.3d 1549 (9th Cir. 1996), defendants were prosecuted for conspiracy to manufacture and distribute marijuana and distribution of marijuana in violation of 21 U.S.C. §§ 846 and 841(a)(1) and of the lesser included offense of simple possession in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 844.  The district court excluded the RFRA as a defense to all counts and the court of appeals held that this was error as to the simple possession counts, but not as to the other counts, stating:  “As to the counts relating to conspiracy to distribute, possession with intent to distribute, and money laundering, the religious freedom of the defendants was not invaded.  Nothing before us suggests that Rastafarianism would require this conduct.”  Id. at 1559.

Significantly, in holding that exclusion of the religious defense was in error and the defendants could be retried on the possession counts, the court stated:

The government should be free to cross-examine them on whether they, in fact, are Rastafarians and to introduce evidence negating their asserted claims.  It is not enough in order to enjoy the protections of the Religious Freedom Restoration Act to claim the name of a religion as a protective cloak.  Neither the government nor the court has to accept the defendants’ mere say-so.  The court may conduct a preliminary hearing in which the defendants will have the obligation of showing that they are in fact Rastafarians and that the use of marijuana is a part of a religious practice of Rastafarians.

Bauer was relied upon in Guam v. Guerrero, 290 F.3d 1210 (9th Cir. 2002) where defendant was prosecuted under the statutes of Guam for importation of controlled substances.  The court rejected the RFRA defense to the importation charges, holding that this statute did not substantially burden Guerrero’s free exercise of his Rastafarianism because “we are satisfied that Rastafarianism does not require importation of a controlled substance, which increases the availability of controlled substances and makes it harder for Guam to control.”  Id. at 1223.  The court left open the question whether a statute proscribing simple possession of marijuana might substantially burden defendant’s ability to practice Rastafarianism.

The holdings of Bauer and Guerrero are extremely limited, merely stating that the RFRA might create an affirmative defense to simple possession charges, and certainly do not make it unlawful to prosecute the defendants for possession of a controlled substance in a national park as they contend.  Just as the defendants in Bauer could not establish that Rastafarianism required them to manufacture and distribute marijuana and just as the defendant in Guerrero could not establish that Rastafarianism required him to import marijuana, these defendants cannot establish that Rastafarianism requires them to smoke marijuana in Independence National Historical Park.

The other leading case construing the provisions of the RFRA also offers no support for the defendants’ position because it also involves governmental action in prosecuting individuals in connection with the private practice of their religion.  In O Centro Espirita Beneficiente Uniao Do Vegetal v. Ashcroft, 342 F.3d 1170 (10th Cir. 2003), the court of appeals affirmed the district court’s issuance of a preliminary injunction against the enforcement of the Controlled Substance Act as it pertained to the importation, possession, and distribution of hoasca for religious ceremonies.  In that context, the government conceded that the religious organization had established a prima facie case under RFRA, a substantial burden imposed by the federal government on a sincere exercise of religion, and then litigated whether it had a compelling interest in prohibiting hoasca under the Controlled Substances Act.  The defendants cannot avail themselves of the government’s concession because it occurred in a factual situation involving the private practice of religion, not a factual situation involving efforts to allegedly practice religion publicly within a national park.

In summary, the defendants have offered no evidence to sustain their burden of proof that the governmental action in prosecuting them for possession of marijuana in Independence National Historical Park substantially burdens the practice of their asserted Rastafarianism because they have cited no authority, and the government is aware of none, for the proposition that their religion requires them to smoke marijuana within a national park.

Finally, defendants’ efforts to avail themselves of the protections of the RFRA are disingenuous since their actions are consistent with a protest, not with a religious ceremony.
  Again assuming that Forchion and Duff are Rastafarians and that marijuana use is a regular practice of that religion, there is no evidence that the other persons present in their group on any of the three occasions were Rastafarians engaged in a religious ceremony.  On each of the three occasions, the defendants’ actions are primarily directed to protesting the federal narcotics laws which the defendants clearly believe are racist and illogical in their prohibition against the use of marijuana and not alcohol and cigarettes.

III.  CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, the defendants motion to dismiss the violation notices issued to them for possession of marijuana within Independence National Historical Park should be denied.

Respectfully submitted,

PATRICK L. MEEHAN

United States Attorney

______________________________

RICHARD W. GOLDBERG
Assistant United States Attorney

Chief, Financial Institution Fraud and Identity Theft Section

______________________________

KRISTIN R. HAYES

Assistant United States Attorney
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Xxxx XXXXXX Street
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patrick_duff@yahoo.com
___________________________________

KRISTIN R. HAYES

Assistant United States Attorney

Date:  November 8, 2004   

�The RFRA has no applicability to the citation issued to Forchion on March 20, 2004 for interfering with agency functions, nor to the citation issued to him on April 17, 2004 for disorderly conduct and to Duff on the same date for interfering with agency functions.


�In addressing the defendants’ claims, the government does not concede that they have met their burden under Meyers, described above.





